DOI: 10.17725/rensit.2023.15.307

Biosensor based on Langmuir-Blodgett film with alcohol oxidase

enzyme

Iliya A. Gorbachev, Andrey V. Smirnov

Kotelnikov Institute of Radioengineering and Electronics of RAS, http://www.cplire.ru/ Moscow 125009, Russian Federation *E-mail: iliyagor36@gmail.com, andre-smirnov-v@yandex.ru*

Received September 08, 2023, peer-reviewed September 13, 2023, accepted September 18, 2023

Abstract: The work examined the sensor properties of a biofilm based on phospholipid molecules 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine with immobilized molecules of the enzyme alcohol oxidase to vapors of ethyl and isopropyl alcohols. The immobilization of alcohol oxidase enzyme molecules was carried out using a Langmuir monolayer process of phospholipid molecules. The sensor coating was obtained using the Langmuir-Schaeffer technology, in which the substrate is oriented parallel to the monolayer. The analysis of microimages of the film surface obtained by atomic force microscopy, allows to present of enzyme molecules in it was established. The study of the sensory properties of the formed coatings was carried out using acoustoelectronic technology. The presence of the enzyme in the sensor coating led to an increase in the amplitude and phase responses of the acoustic delay line when interacting with vapors of the detected substance. The maximum amplitude and phase responses were recorded when the film interacted with ethanol vapor and were 1.5 dB and 19°, respectively. The work showed that the formed sensor coating has selective sensitivity to ethanol vapor. This allows us to conclude that it is possible to use this sensor coating to create an acoustoelectronic ethanol biosensor. Increasing the sensitivity of such biosensors can be achieved by varying technological parameters such as the number of layers in the film, as well as the amount of immobilized enzyme in each layer.

Keywords: Langmuir-Blodgett films, monolayers with immobilized enzyme, acoustoelectronic sensor, biosensor, ethanol sensor

UDC 539.23, 544.032.7

Acknowledgments: The work was carried out with the financial support of the Russian Science Foundation, grant No. 22-29-20317.

For citation: Iliya A. Gorbachev, Andrey V. Smirnov. Biosensor based on Langmuir-Blodgett film with alcohol oxidase enzyme. *RENSIT: Radioelectronics. Nanosystems. Information Technologies*, 2023, 15(3):307-316e. DOI: 10.17725/rensit.2023.15.307.

CONTENTS

- 1. INTRODUCTION (307)
- 2. EXPERIMENTAL PART (308)
 - 2.1. CREATION OF SENSOR COVER BASED ON THE LANGMUIR-BLODGETT FILMS WITH IMMOBILIZED ENZYME ALCOHOLOXIDAZE (308)

2.2. Studying by atomic force microscopy of the formed sensor covering morphology (310)

2.3. STUDYING OF THE SENCORIC PROPERTIES OF THE CREATED FILMS BY ACOUSTIC ELECTRONIC METHOD (311)

2.3.1. CREATING AN ACOUSTIC DELAY LINE (311)

2.3.2. MEASURING STAND FOR BIOSENSOR RESEARCH (311)

- 3. Results and discussion (312)
 3.1. Effect of adsorption of the enzyme alcohol oxidase on the surface properties of DPPE monolayers (312)
 3.2. Morphology of Langmuir-Blodgett DPPE films with immobilized alcohol oxidase (AO) enzyme (313)
 3.3. Sensor properties of Langmuir-Blodgett DPPE films with immobilized enzyme alcohol oxides (AO) (313)
- 4. CONCLUSION (314)
- 5. References (315)

1. INTRODUCTION

The active development of the medical and chemical industry requires the creation of new effective systems of technological parameters process flow monitoring. The slightest change in the concentration of precursors and chemical reagents can take a significant influence on the result of the technological process. In addition, the slightest leakage of certain chemicals can have toxicological effects on plant personnel and the environment. Such substances include saturated monohydric alcohols, which have a wide variability of effects on the human body [1,2]. In this regard, the task of determining the concentration of alcohol vapors in the environment becomes particularly relevant.

There are two types of most commonly used sensors for determining alcohol vapors in the gas phase. The first is an optical type of sensor, based on changes in the absorption and refractive coefficients of the sample being studied. The second type of sensors is based on changes in the electrical conductivity of the system. The main disadvantage of both types of sensors is their low selectivity and difficulty in determining the elemental composition of a mixture of different alcohols [3,4]. Carrying out enzymatic reactions on a touch coating is one of the ways to solve this problem [5].

There are a number of techniques that allow the immobilization of enzyme molecules in the sensor layer [6-8]. One of the effective approaches is the Langmuir-Blodgett method, which allows the formation of a highly ordered film of surfactant molecules with the simultaneous immobilization of enzyme molecules in it [9,10]. Such films can be used as a sensitive touch coating in the manufacture of various types of sensors [11]. A promising direction in sensors is the use of acoustoelectronic technologies, which are based on changes in the characteristics of an acoustic wave when interacting with the external environment.

In an acoustoelectronic device, an acoustic wave propagates in a sound pipe, the surface of which is in contact with the environment. With a certain change in the gas composition in the environment, characteristics (amplitude, the phase, speed) of the acoustic wave in the sound pipeline change, which are recorded by the measuring device [12]. A fairly common acoustoelectronic device is an acoustic delay line (ALD), in which a gas-sensitive sensor coating is located on the surface of a piezoelectric sound pipe between an electrode system of interdigital transducers (IDTs) [13,14]. The parameters of the acoustic wave in the delay line (amplitude, frequency, phase, speed) depend quite strongly on the properties of the sensor coating. Almost all acoustoelectronic sensors are based on this principle. Thus, changes in the properties of the sensor coating when interacting with the external environment, for example, such as density, elasticity, viscosity, conductivity, are the basis for the development of acoustoelectronic sensors for various purposes.

The use of this technology using LB films with immobilized proteins as a sensor coating, which biochemically selectively interact with various organic and inorganic substances, makes it possible to create a whole family of various new generation enzymatic biosensors [15-18].

The purpose of this work was to study the sensory properties of a film of phospholipid molecules (1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3phosphoethanolamine – DPPE) with the immobilized enzyme alcohol oxidase (AO) to vapors of ethyl and isopropyl alcohol.

2. EXPERIMENTAL PART

2.1. CREATION OF SENSOR COVER BASED ON THE LANGMUIR-BLODGETT FILMS WITH IMMOBILIZED ENZYME ALCOHOLOXIDAZE

То Langmuir-Blodgett form films and immobilize the enzyme in them, а 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3solution of phosphoethanolamine (DPPE, 99%, Sigma Aldrich) in chloroform (99%, Sigma Aldrich) with a concentration of 10^{-3} was used M/l. The formation of a multilayer DPPE film with immobilized AO enzyme was performed on an LB Trough Nima KSV KN2001 installation (Nima KSV, Finland) at an aqueous subphase temperature of 22°C. An aqueous solution of AO molecules with an enzyme concentration of 0.015 mg/ml was used as a subphase.

The formation of a sensor coating based on a Langmuir-Blodgett multilayered films of DPPE phospholipid molecules with an immobilized enzyme occurred according to the following procedure. A 60 µL aliquot of a DPPE solution in chloroform was dropped onto the surface of the aqueous subphase. After 120 minutes allocated for the adsorption of the enzyme on the surface of the aqueous subphase [19], the DPPE monolayer was compressed by movable barriers with a constant rate of area decreasing equal to 1.5 cm²/min. During the compression of the monolayer by movable barriers, the dependence of the surface pressure on the area occupied by one molecule in the monolayer (compression isotherm) was automatically recorded. Compression isotherms of DPPE monolayers formed on the aqueous subphase in the presence and absence of dissolved AO molecules are shown in Fig. 1. To assess the effect of AO enzyme adsorption on the surface properties of monolayers, parameters such as specific area per molecule in the liquidcondensed phase were used monolayer (A_0) and monolayer compression modulus (k) [20]. The quantity A_0 is numerically equal to the



Fig. 1. Compression isotherms of a DPPE monolayer on a subphase in the absence (a) and at the presence of dissolved AO enzyme molecules (b), where I, II, III and IV are the gas, liquid-expanded, liquid-condensed and condensed phases of the monolayer, respectively.

coordinate of the intersection point of the straight line drawn through the condensed phase of the monolayer and the abscissa axis. The monolayer compression modulus (k) is determined from the following relation:

$$k = -A_0 \frac{d\pi}{dA},\tag{1}$$

where A_0 , A, π are the specific area per molecule in the non-tilted condensed phase of the monolayer, the specific area per molecule and surface pressure, respectively.

The transfer of the formed monolayers to solid substrates was carried out using the Langmuir-Schaeffer method (horizontal lift) at the surface pressure value of 40 mN/m. The substrate oriented parallel to the monolayer was take into a contact with the water surface, and the monolayer was adsorbed on the surface of the substrate. The process of monolayer transfer was repeated after the drying of the formed films during the 10 minutes. So a six-layer film with immobilized enzyme molecules was formed. The plates of lithium niobate plates and mica



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of the process of forming a sensor film using the Langmuir-Schaeffer technology (a. – immersion of the substrate, b – separation of the substrate from the surface of water with an adsorbed monolayer), where I is a monolayer with immobilized AO enzyme molecules, II is an aqueous subphase with a dissolved enzyme AO, III–substrate.

plates were used as substrates. The process of transferring a Langmuir monolayer onto a solid substrate is schematically shown in **Fig. 2**.

Drying of the sensor coatings was carried out for 2 hours in a desiccator. Since the sensitive film was formed on the entire surface of the plate, after the LB film had dried, the electrode structures of the acoustic delay line were mechanically cleaned using chloroform (99% Sigma Aldrich) and ethyl alcohol (95% Sigma Aldrich). The formed coating was localized in the space between the transducers and did not affect the process of excitation and recording of the acoustic wave.

2.2. Studying by atomic force microscopy of the formed sensor covering morphology

The morphology of DPPE films with immobilized AO enzyme transferred onto mica substrates was studied by atomic force microscopy using an NT-MDT Solver setup (Russia, Zelenograd, NT-MDT). Scanning was carried out in intermittent contact mode with a frequency of 1 Hz. NSG10 probes (NT-MDT, Russia) with a radius of curvature of the probe tip of 10 nm were used for scanning. Surface images obtained from studying the films are shown in **Fig. 3**.

To quantify the properties of the film surface, the average film roughness (R_{a}) was



Fig. 3. Images of the surface of the DPPE film formed in the absence (a) and in the presence (b) of AO enzyme molecules dissolved in the subphase, and the profile line of the film surface with included aggregates of enzyme molecules (c).



Fig. 4. Optical image of the electrode structures of the created delay line (a), schematic image of the location of the sensitive sensor coating on the surface of the lens (b).

calculated. The calculation was performed automatically using software Gwyddion 2.62 [21,22].

2.3 Studying of the sencoric properties of the created films by acoustic electronic method

2.3.1. CREATING AN ACOUSTIC DELAY LINE

The acoustic delay line was formed on a piezoelectric substrate made of lithium niobate 128YX, dimensions 25×15 mm and thickness 2 mm. Electrode structures in the form of interdigitated converters (IDTs) were manufactured using maskless photolithography and magnetron sputtering of aluminum. Fig. 4a shows an optical image of the formed electrode structures of the acoustoelectronic delay line obtained using an OlympusLext laser confocal scanning microscope. Transducer aperture A = 9 mm, distance between transducers L = 10 mm. The operating wavelength determined by the distance between is adjacent IDT electrodes and was 200 µm. Each interdigitated transducer contained 20 pairs of pin electrodes. Fig. 4b shows a schematic representation of the area where the sensitive coating is located on the surface of the delay line.

Fig. 5 shows the amplitude-frequency dependences of the S_{12} parameters of the acoustic delay line in the absence of a coating, with a DPPE coating formed, and with a DPPE+enzyme coating.

It is clear from the graphs that the coating does not have a significant effect on the type and level of the acoustic signal.

2.3.2. MEASURING STAND FOR BIOSENSOR RESEARCH

The study of the gas-sensitive properties of the formed coatings was carried out using an automatic measuring complex. It schematic



Fig. 5. Frequency dependences of the S_{12} delay line parameters in the absence of a coating (1), with a formed DPPE coating (2) and a DPPE+enzyme coating (3).



Fig. 6. Schematic representation of the measuring stand (1) clean air generator (2) dry air flow meter (3) dry air flow meter for supply to the bubbler (4), measuring chamber (5), vector network analyzer (6) and personal computer (7).

representation is provided in Fig. 6. The flow of clean, dried air from the clean air generator (1) is supplied through stainless steel lines to flow meters (2) and (3), the flow meter (2) regulates the flow of dry air used to purge the measuring chamber and diluting the test gas mixture flow. The flow meter (3) regulates the flow of dry air supplied to the aerator (pore size 20 microns) of the bubbler (4). When bubbling, dry air is saturated with vapors of the test liquid (propanol and ethanol) and at the outlet of the bubbler a mixture of dry air and vapors of the test substance is obtained at a concentration close to saturated. Adjusting the ratio of gas flows passing through flow meters (2) and (3) made it possible to supply a gas mixture with the desired concentration of the test substance into the measuring chamber (5). Using a Tektronix TTR-506A vector network analyzer and a personal computer, changes in the acoustic signal were recorded when exposed to different concentrations of the tested substances.

Detailed information on the measuring stand is presented in the works: [15,23].

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Effect of adsorption of the enzyme alcohol oxidase on the surface properties of **DPPE** monolayers

Fig. 1 shows compression isotherms of DPPE monolayers formed on the subphase in the absence and presence of dissolved AO enzyme. In the absence of AO enzyme molecules dissolved in the subphase, phospholipid DPPE molecules form a stable monolayer. On the compression isotherm, gaseous, liquid-expanded (II), liquidcondensed (III) and condensed phases (IV) can be distinguished. In the condensed phase, the values of A_0 and k take values of 25.2 Å² and 106.68 mN/m, respectively. The addition of dissolved AO enzyme molecules to the subphase affects the surface properties of the DPPE monolayer, so A_0 increases to 35.7 Å², and k decreases to 68.5mN/m. There is a shift in the compression isotherm towards larger areas occupied by one molecule. This effect is explained by the incorporation of AO enzyme molecules into the Langmuir monolayer of DPPE. In the presence of AO molecules dissolved in

the subphase, the gas phase-liquid-expanded phase phase transition occurs at large areas per molecule. This effect is associated with the adsorption of AO molecules on the surface of water, which leads to an increase in the total number of molecules located on it [19]. A decrease in k and an increase in A_0 shows that the adsorption of AO molecules has an expanding effect on the structure of the DPPE monolayer.

3.2. MORPHOLOGY OF LANGMUIR-BLODGETT DPPE FILMS WITH IMMOBILIZED ALCOHOL OXIDASE (AO) ENZYME

Fig. 3 shows images of the surface of a DPPE film formed in the absence and presence of AO enzyme molecules dissolved in the subphase, obtained by studying it using atomic force microscopy. Multilayer Langmuir-Blodgett films have a developed morphology. This is due to the formation of pores in the film during the evaporation of water captured during the transfer of monolayers [15] on a solid substrate. In Fig. 3a it is seen the 6-layer DPPE film, formed on the subphase in the absence of dissolved AO molecules, has a developed surface with an average roughness of about 3 nm. The surface roughness of a six-layer DPPE film with immobilized AO enzyme molecules is on the order of 5 nm. On the surface of the film, individual aggregates of AO enzyme molecules are visible with heights from 15 to 40 nm and occupied areas of the order of $0.2 \,\mu\text{m}^2$. The minimum heights of the observed aggregates are values comparable to the dimensions of the AO molecule, which are 10 nm×10 nm×10.5 nm [24]. The presence of adsorbed aggregates of AO enzyme molecules leads to structural changes in the film, which leads to an increase in the roughness of the film surface.

3.3. SENSOR PROPERTIES OF LANGMUIR-BLODGETT DPPE FILMS WITH IMMOBILIZED ENZYME ALCOHOL OXIDES (AO)

The alcohol oxidase enzyme catalyzes the oxidation of short-chain aliphatic alcohols to their corresponding aldehydes according to the following scheme [25]:

 $RCH_2OH + O_2 \xrightarrow{\text{alcohol oxidase}} RCHO + H_2O_2.$ (2)

During reaction (2), a change in conductivity occurs in the region where the AO enzyme is localized. In the samples under study, the en enzyme is localized in the LB layer up to 15 nm thick, and a change in its conductivity will affect the electrical properties of the acoustic wave probing it. **Fig. 7** shows the concentration dependences of the change in the amplitude of the acoustic wave (ΔS_{12}) in the acoustic delay line at a frequency of 19.7 MHz during the interaction of an air mixture containing



Fig. 7. Concentration dependences of the change in the amplitude of the acoustic wave in the acoustic delay line at a frequency of 19.7 MHz for ethanol (a) and propanol (b) vapors for pure LZ, LZ with a deposited DPPE film and LZ with a deposited DPPE film with immobilized AO enzyme.

various concentrations of ethanol or propanol vapor with the formed sensor coatings.

The attenuation of an acoustic wave in an acoustic laser without and with an applied coating that does not contain immobilized AO enzyme molecules when interacting with ethanol and propanol vapors is 0.15 dB. The presence of immobilized AO enzyme molecules in the film coating leads to an increase in the attenuation of the acoustic wave from 0.2 dB to 1.3 dB at 100% ethanol vapor content in the sample flow. The attenuation of an acoustic wave in an acoustic laser coated with a film coating with an immobilized AO enzyme upon interaction with propanol vapor is also 0.15 dB.

Fig. 8 shows the concentration dependences of the change in the phase of the acoustic wave in the acoustic delay line at a frequency of 19.7 MHz for ethanol and propanol vapors for pure



Fig. 8. Concentration dependences of the change in the phase of the acoustic wave in the acoustic delay line at a frequency of 19.7 MHz for ethanol (a) and propanol (b) vapors for pure LZ, LZ with an applied DPPE film and LZ with a deposited DPPE film with immobilized AO enzyme.

LZ, LZ with a deposited DPPE film, and LZ with a deposited DPPE film with immobilized AO enzyme. The impact of propanol vapor on the LZ with an applied sensor coating without an enzyme and with an enzyme leads to a phase shift of the acoustic wave by 2 and 3, respectively. Thus, the formed sensor coating has virtually no phase sensitivity to propanol vapor.

The effect of ethanol vapor on a laser without a film coating leads to a change in the phase of the acoustic wave by 3°. The presence of a film coating on the surface of the LZ without and with an immobilized enzyme leads to an increase in the maximum phase shift to 14° and 19°, respectively. In this case, in the range of ethanol vapor concentrations in the total sample flow from 0 to 20%, the presence of a DPPE film with an immobilized enzyme leads to an increase in the phase response to 2. Thus, it was shown that the formed sensor coating has selective sensitivity to ethanol vapor. The selectivity of the formed sensor coating is based on the differences in the catalytic activity of the AO enzyme used in relation to the alcohols used [26].

CONCLUSION

The work studied the morphology and sensory properties of Langmuir-Blodgett films of phospholipid DPPE molecules with immobilized AO enzyme molecules to vapors of ethyl and isopropyl alcohols. The presence of the AO enzyme in the formed film coatings was demonstrated using atomic force microscopy. In the course of studying the gas sensitivity of the formed sensor coatings, it was shown that LB films have the greatest sensory response to ethyl alcohol vapor. Thus, the maximum change in the amplitude and phase of the acoustic wave in the acoustic delay line in the presence of ethanol vapor was 1.5 dB and 19°, respectively. In this case, in the range

of ethanol concentrations in the sample flow from 10 to 70%, the amplitude response has a character close to linear.

This allows us to conclude that it is possible to use this sensor coating to create an acoustoelectronic ethanol biosensor. Increasing the sensitivity of such biosensors can be achieved by varying technological parameters such as the number of layers in the film, as well as the amount of immobilized enzyme in each layer.

REFERENCES

- Ernstgard L, Shibata E, Johanson G. Uptake and Disposition of Inhaled Methanol Vapor in Humans. *Toxicological Sciences*, 2005, 88(1):30-38.
- Kim Y-S, Park K-Y, Cho E-S. Thirteenweek inhalation toxicity study of 1-propanol in F344 rats. *Toxicology Reports*, 2021, 8:1839-1845.
- Fong JK, Dansby-Sparks RN, Lamb AC, Owen TW, Mushfiq M, Sampathkumaran U, Goswami K, Jensen SL, Xue ZL. Fluorescent-Dye Doped Thin-Film Sensors for the Detection of Alcohol Vapors. Am. J. Anal. Chem., 2014, 5(9):566-580.
- Dalstein O, Tabo M, Alvarez E, Roux L, Garuz R, Pasquinelli M, Azzi L, Bendahan M, Aguir K, Loizillon J, Abbarchi M, Grosso D. Method to detect ethanol vapour in high humidity by direct reflection on a xerogel coating. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2019, 11(4):4439-4446.
- Kashin VV, Kolesov VV, Krupenin SV, Parshintsev AA, Reshetilov AN, Soldatov ES, Azev VN. Molecular nanobiosensor based on the enzyme glucose oxidase. *RENSIT: Radioelectronics. Nanosystems. Information Technology*, 2013, 5(2):45-61.
- 6. Reshetilov AN, Kitova AE, Tarasov SE, Plekhanova YuV, Bykov AG, Sandramorti

AK, Kuznetsova IE, Kolesov VV, Gotovtsev PM. Highly conductive polymer PEDOT:PSS – application in biomedical and bioelectrochemical systems. *RENSIT: Radioelectronics. Nanosystems. Information Technology,* 2020, 12(4):471-482. DOI: 10.17725/rensit.2020.12.471.

- 7. Abolpour A, Sariri HR, Vianello F, Stevanato R. Enzyme immobilization: an update. J. Chem Biol, 2013, 6:185-205.
- Nguyena HH, Kim M. An Overview of Techniques in Enzyme Immobilization. *Appl. Sci. Converg. Technol.*, 2017, 26(6):157-163.
- 9. Li J, Rosilio V, Boissonnade M-M, Baszkin A. Adsorption of glucose oxidase into lipid monolayers: effect of a lipid headgroup charge. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces,* 2003, 29:13-20.
- Ohnuki H, Saiki T, Kusakari A, Endo H, Ichihara M, Izumi M. Incorporation of Glucose Oxidase into Langmuir-Blodgett Films. *Langmuir*, 2007, 23(8):4675-81.
- 11. Bie J, Sepodes B, Fernandes PCB, Ribeiro MHL. Enzyme Immobilization and Co-Immobilization: Main Framework. *Advances and Some Applications Processes*, 2022, 10:494
- 12. Vellekoop MJ. Acoustic wave sensors and their technology. *Ultrasonics*, 1998, 36:7-14.
- 13. Jahanshahi P, Wei Q, Jie Z, Zalnezhad E. Three-dimensional analysis of surface acoustic resonator for ultra-high sensitive ethanol disclosure as non-invasive biosensor. *MOJ App Bio Biomech.*, 2017, 1(4):150-151.
- 14. Guz L. Technical aspects of SAW gas sensors application in environmental measurements. MATEC Web of Conferences, 2019, 252:06007.
- 15. Gorbachev I, Smirnov A, Ivanov G, Avramov I, Datsuk E, Venelinov T, Bogdanova E, Anisimkin V, Kolesov V,

Kuznetsova I. Langmuir-Blodgett Films of Arachidic and Stearic Acids as Sensitive Coatings for Chloroform HF SAW Sensors. *Sensors*, 2023, 23:100.

- 16. Ivanov GR, Avramov I. Langmuir-Blodgett Films from Fluorescently Labelled Phospholipids Deposited on Surface Acoustic Wave Devices. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 2019, 1186(1):012007.
- Gorbachev I, Smirnov A, Ivanov GR, Venelinov T, Amova A, Datsuk E, Anisimkin V, Kuznetsova I, Kolesov V. Langmuir– Blodgett Films with Immobilized Glucose Oxidase Enzyme Molecules for Acoustic Glucose Sensor Application. *Sensors*, 2023, 23:5290.
- Giffney TJ, Ng YH, Aw KC. A Surface Acoustic Wave Ethanol Sensor with Zinc Oxide Nanorods. *Smart Materials Research*, 2011, 2012:5.
- 19. Caseli L, Perinotto AC, Viitala T, Zucolotto V, Jr Oliveira ON. Immobilization of Alcohol Dehydrogenase in Phospholipid Langmuir-Blodgett Films to Detect Ethanol. *Langmuir*, 2009, 25:3057-3061.
- Vollhardt D, Fainerman VB. Progress in characterization of Langmuir monolayers by consideration of compressibility. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 2006, 127:83-97.
- 21. Necas D, Klapetek P, Valtr M. Estimation of roughness measurement bias originating from background subtraction. *Measurement Science and Technology*, 2020, 31:094010.
- 22. Necas D, Valtr M, Klapetek P. How levelling and scan line corrections ruin roughness measurement and how to prevent it. *Scientific Reports*, 2020, 10:15294.
- 23. Smirnov A, Anisimkin V, Krasnopolskaya L, Guliy O, Sinev I, Simakov V, Golyshkin A, Almyasheva N, Ageykin N, Kuznetsova I. Features of the formation of sensitive

films based on mycelium of higher fungi for surface and plate acoustic waves gas sensors. *Sensors*, 2023, 23(4):2216.

- 24. Vonck J, Parcej DN, Mills DJ. Structure of Alcohol Oxidase from Pichia pastoris by Cryo-Electron Microscopy. *PLoS ONE*, 11(7):e0159476.
- 25. Mizgunova UM, Tesker AE, Krasnoslobodtseva EA, Dolmanova IF. Enzymatic determination of methanol impurities in water-ethanol solutions using alcohol oxidase. *Moscow University Bulletin, Ser. 2 Chemistry*, 1998, 39(6):378-382.
- 26. Zakhari S. Overview: How Is Alcohol Metabolized by the Body? *Alcohol Research* & Health, 2006, 29(4):245-254.